TGEGKXGF. '3B2H236'2: </75<56. 'Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq. 'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT P. MCCLOUD

Appellant,

CASE NO.: SC12-2103

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit Polk County, Florida

> By: Ita M. Neymotin, Esquire Regional Counsel Byron P. Hileman, Esquire J. Andrew Crawford, Esquire Joseph T. Sexton, Esquire Assistant Regional Counsel P.O Box 9000, Drawer RC-2 Bartow, Florida 33831 Phone: 863.578.5920 appeals@flrc2.org Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 5, 2009, Robert Pernell McCloud ("Appellant"), was charged in Polk County, Florida with two counts of first degree murder for the deaths of Tamiqua Taylor and Dustin Freeman, the attempted first degree murder of Wilkins Merilan ("Fang"), conspiracy to commit burglary, armed burglary of an occupied dwelling with an assault or battery, and armed robbery. (V. 1, R. 24-29). The indictment alleged that Appellant personally shot both victims with a firearm. (V. 1, R. 24-29). The State filed a notice indicating it would be seeking the death penalty on November 16, 2009. (V. 1, R. 24-25).

Prior to trial, the defense filed a number of motions challenging various aspects of the death penalty and other substantive motions, including a motion to suppress and motion to preclude imposition of the death penalty pursuant to *Ring*.

v. Arizona. (V. 2, R. 207-530, V. 3, 531-621). The motion to suppress was heard on September 28, 2011 and denied via a written order on November 5, 2011. (V. 5, R. 770, V. 6, 1070-1071). The remainder of Appellant's motions regarding the death penalty were denied.

The case proceeded to trial before Circuit Judge Donald Jacobsen and a jury on February 13, 2012. (V. 7, R. 778). The State's theory of the case was that in October 2009, five men, including Appellant, conspired to burglarize Fang's residence in the Poinciana area of Polk County, Florida. (V. 15, R. 2513). These five men were: Major Griffin, Joshua Bryson, Andre Brown, Jamal Brown, and Appellant. (V. 15, R. 2514). Fang, a known drug dealer, was rumored to have large amounts of cash and drugs at his residence. (V. 15, R. 2514). Mate and Bryson had previously robbed Fang in June 2009, and thought that Fang would be an easy target. (V. 15, R. 2514). According to the State, all five men arrived at Fang's residence, kicked in the door, and robbed the occupants of the home. (V. 15, R. 2515). During the robbery/burglary, Tamiqua Taylor and Dustin Freeman were both shot and killed by a single gunshot to the back of the head. (V. 15, R. 2515). Despite being shot, stabbed, and tortured, Fang survived. (V. 15, R. 2514-2515).

Several of the codefendants received *significantly* lower sentences in exchange for truthful testimony against Appellant. (V. 15, R. 2518). For their

assistance, Dre received fifteen years in prison, and, an identified shooter, Bryson, received ten years in prison. (V. 15, R. 2518). Finger agreed to cooperate, but after two hours of trial testimony, he admitted that everything he said was a lie. (V. 15, R. 2518). After Appellant's trial, the State moved to set aside Finger's plea, but later offered him a sentence of fifteen years which he accepted. (SR. 1-7). The trial court found Mate to be mentally retarded and entered an order barring the imposition of the death penalty. (V. 15, R. 2518). Mate was determined to be incompetent at the time of Appellant's trial. (V. 15, R. 2518).

On March 8-9, 2012, the jury returned a verdict finding Appellant guilty of two counts of first degree murder. (V. 13, R. 2194). However, the jury specifically found by special interrogatory verdict that Appellant actually possessed a firearm, but did <u>not</u> find that he discharged a firearm. (V. 13, R. 2194).

The penalty phase, before the same jury, began shortly thereafter. The State relied on five aggravating factors to establish death eligibility: Appellant was contemporaneously convicted of a capital felony; the capital felony was committed while Appellant was engaged in, attempted to commit, or in flight after committing or attempting to commit a homicide, robbery of burglary; the murders were committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest; the murders were committed for financial gain; and the capital felonies were committed in a cold, calculated, and

premeditated manner (CCP) without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (V. 15, R. 2519-2520). The defense presented three statutory mitigators: (Appellant was an accomplice, Appellant's emotional and developmental age, and Appellant was under the influence of an extreme emotional or mental disturbance) and nineteen non-statutory mitigators. (V. 15, R. 2519-2520). The focus of the penalty phase testimony was on mental issues, Appellant's family life, and the disparate sentences of his codefendants. (V. 15, R. 2521-2522). The jury, by a vote of eight to four, recommended the death penalty for both murders. The defense filed a motion for new trial on April 4, 2012, which was denied on April 9, 2012. (V. 8, R. 2204-2211).

During the penalty phase and the *Spencer* hearing, the defense had previously filed (and repeatedly renewed) motions seeking to preclude the possibility of the death penalty based on the *Edmund/Tyson* culpability requirements, since the jury determined that Appellant *was not the shooter, and the proportionality of a death sentence based on the codefendants' significantly lower sentences and the fact that two of them were necessarily shooters.* (V. 8, R. 2184-2186). The defense also challenged various aspects of Florida's death sentencing procedure, specifically asserting a violation of *Ring* and the Sixth Amendment in that Florida is the only state which does not require a unanimous jury finding or a 10-2 super-majority finding (Alabama) of at least one aggravating

circumstance necessary to make the defendant death eligible. (V. 2, R. 225-249).

After the *Spencer* hearing and the submission of sentencing memoranda, Judge Jacobsen entered a written order imposing the death penalty on September 6, 2012. (V. 15, R. 2513-2538). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Pretrial Proceedings

On May 9, 2011, Judge Hunter held a hearing on a number defense motion raising various challenges to Florida's death penalty. (V. 4, 652). The motions were as follows: Motion to Declare Florida Statutes 921.147 (7) Unconstitutional (denied-State limited to two victim impact witnesses per murder), Motion to Require Unanimous Jury in Penalty Phase (denied), Motion Requesting Trial Court State Basis for Rulings (denied), a Ring Motion (denied), Motion for Disclosure of Aggravators (granted), Motion for Disclosure of Grand Jury Proceedings (denied), Motion for Individual Voir Dire and Sequestration of Jurors (granted), Motion in Limine to Certain Procedures (granted in part denied in part), motions to declare the prior felony aggravator and jury instruction unconstitutional (denied), motion to declare the felony murder concept in the instructions unconstitutional (denied), motion to declare CCP aggravator and instruction unconstitutional (denied), motion to declare avoid arrest aggravator and instruction unconstitutional (denied), and a length constitutional motion (denied). (V. 4, 659723).

Circuit Judge Donald Jacobsen rotated into Appellant's division and heard Appellant's Motion to Suppress on September 28, 2011 and on October 31, 2011. (V. 5, 770, V. 6, R. 952). The defense contended that Appellant was arrested in Orlando by the Orange County Sheriff's Office on a misdemeanor charge. (V. 5, 780). The Polk County Sheriff's Office was alerted to Appellant's arrest and the lead detective, Detective Troy Lung ("Detective Lung") responded and Mirandized Appellant. (V. 5, 781). Several hours later, Appellant was transported to an interrogation room at the Orange County Sheriff's Office. (V. 5, 780). Appellant was then interrogated by Detective Lung, Lieutenant Giampavolo, Detective Evans, and Detective Bias. (V. 5, 780-781). The interrogation began at 9:00 p.m. and ended at 3:00 a.m. (V. 5, 781). According to Appellant, he informed Detective Lung during their initial contact that he did not want to answer questions, and, during an unrecorded portion of the interrogation, he was repeatedly threatened. (V. 5, 785-786). Law enforcement officers disputed Appellant's version of events and testified that he never invoked his right to remain silent and there were no threats made to Appellant. (V. 6, 1071).

Detective Bias stated that, although Appellant never specifically stated that he did not want to talk, he did say that "he was fucked up and that he didn't—he was *not going to talk anymore* about it because he is not trying to get, get the death penalty. (V. 5, R. 902-903)("emphasis added"). However, during crossexamination, Detective Evans testified that "*he (Appellant) made it clear that he was not going to answer questions.*" (V. 5, R. 921-922), ("emphasis added"). Nevertheless, questioning continued with Detective Bias. (V. 5, R. 922-923). On November 2, 2011, Judge Jacobsen denied Appellant's motion to suppress and determined, based on weighing the credibility of the detectives and Appellant, that Appellant did not invoke his right to remain silent and he was not threatened. (V. 6, 1071).

Appellant filed a notice of intent to claim alibi on November 9, 2011. (V. 6, 1072-1074). The notice alleged that on October 3, 2009 Dre drove Appellant to Florida Hospital in Apopka, where his wife, Shawana McCloud, was being treated in the emergency room. (V. 6, 1073). Shortly after midnight on October 4, 2009, Appellant was dropped off to his wife's home to babysit the couple's children. (V. 6, 1073). At about 1:00 a.m., Mark Ayers, drove Appellant to Harold and Sylvia Scott's residence so that he could have help taking care of the children. (V. 6, 1073). According to Appellant's wife and her sister, Monica Zow, Appellant remained at that residence through the early morning hours of October 4, 2009, and, therefore, he could not have been present when the robberies and murders took place. (V. 6, 1076).

B. State's Motion in Limine

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion in limine seeking to exclude expert testimony from a forensic psychologist, Dr. William Kremper ("Dr. Kremper"), who would have testified that Appellant's statements to law enforcement were involuntary. (V. 21, T. 968). According to Dr. Kremper, Appellant's admissions to law enforcement were a psychologically coerced statements based on the facts of the case and Appellant's history. (V. 21, T. 974). The State asserted that such testimony was "infringing on the province of the jury" because the voluntariness of a confession is a jury question. (V. 21, T. 986). Further, the State argued that such an opinion was irrelevant because it did not prove or disprove a material fact. (V. 21, T. 987). The defense countered that the voluntariness of Appellant's confession was a disputed issue, directly involved the question of guilt, and Dr. Kremper's opinion would aid the jury in making that determination. (V. 21, T. 991-992). After hearing argument from both sides, the court granted the State's motion in limine and excluded Dr. Kremper from testifying. (V. 21, T. 993). The trial court filed Dr. Kremper's report under seal. (V. 21, T. 999).

After the jury was sworn, defense counsel renewed Appellant's previous motions and objections to the death penalty prior to opening statements. (V. 21, T. 1020-1024). Judge Jacobsen reaffirmed Judge Hunter's earlier rulings. (V. 21, T. 1024-1025). The defense further renewed the motion to suppress Appellant's

statements and moved to admit Dr. Kremper's testimony. (V. 21, T. 1025-1028). The court again denied Appellant's request to suppress his confession, and clarified his ruling excluding of Dr. Kremper's testimony. (V. 21, T. 1026, V. 21, T).

C. Trial

The State's evidence at trial purportedly proving Appellant was the actual shooter of both victims consisted solely of: Appellant's statements admitting the robbery, but denying the shootings; testimony of codefendant/accomplices (one of whom admitted he lied about his entire testimony); a .38 caliber revolver that belonged to Fang found on Appellant at the time of his arrest (proven to not be the murder weapon); and a videotape from Walmart and a gas station. There was no forensic or physical evidence proving that Appellant was the actual shooter, and, Fang, the only surviving victim, *identified codefendant Bryson* as one of his shooters. Fang was unable to identify Appellant as even being in his home.

Although originally charged with two counts of first degree murder where the State sought the death penalty, Bryson received ten years in prison, Dre received fifteen years in prison, and Finger received ten years in prison. (V. 11, R. 1889-1907, V. 15, R. 2530). As part of their deals with the State, the prosecutor waived the 10-20-Life minimum mandatory sentences. (V. 11, R. 1889-1907). The trial court found that Appellant was not the main instigator of the robbery. (V. 15, R. 2530). Nevertheless, Appellant received a death sentence. During jury selection, the defense raised several issues with the trial court. The trial court told both sides "they needed to pick up the pace," and to speed things up. (V. 20, T. 724-725, 742-743, 865-866). Both sides expressed dissatisfaction with the judge and the defense reminded him that death qualification was extremely important and critical stage of the trial. (V. 20, T. 724-725, 742-743, 865-868). *The defense informed the court that the State had a day and a half to question potential jurors while the defense had only three hours*. (V. 20, T. 742-743). The defense also objected and pointed out that the judge was denigrating the role of the jury when he mentioned five or six times to the panel that he (the judge) alone was ultimately responsible to determine the application of the death penalty in violation of *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985).

According to the State in its opening statement, on October 3, 2009 five men, including Appellant, conspired to burglarize Fang's residence in the Poinciana area of Polk County, Florida. (V. 21, T. 1058-1059). The State contended that Appellant and his codefendants kicked in Fang's door and began to frantically search the house for drugs and money. (V. 21, T. 1058-1059). Apparently disappointed with what was found, Fang was allegedly tortured by Appellant and Mate and then shot two or three times with a .45 caliber handgun while locked in a closet. (V. 21, T. 1058-1060, V. 22, T. 1061). According to the State, based on the testimony of only codefendant Dre, Appellant, was armed with a .38 caliber revolver, shot both Tamiqua Taylor and Dustin Freeman in the back of the head, killing them. (V. 22, T. 1062). The State argued that when Appellant was arrested, he was in possession of a .38 caliber handgun which was stolen from Fang's residence. It conceded, however, that this handgun was not the murder weapon. (V. 22, T. 1064).

The defense contended that Appellant was not even present when murders were committed and had an alibi. (V. 22, T. 1079-1081). On October 3, 2009, Appellant was at a party, met his codefendants, and was recruited by Bryson, the organizer of the crimes, to participate in a robbery. (V. 22, T. 1078).

Dre, a friend of Appellant's, advised him that his wife, Shawana McCloud, has been taken to the hospital. (V. 22, T. 1079). She was kicked in the stomach during an altercation while pregnant and went to the Florida Hospital, located in Apopka, Florida. (V. 22, T. 1079-1080). After being driven to his wife's residence, Mark Ayers, drove Appellant to Harold and Sylvia Scott's residence in Maitland, Florida, where he remained the remainder of the night to take care of the children. (V. 22, T. 1082-1083). Therefore, according to the defense, the Appellant had an alibi and could not have committed the murders. (V. 22, T. 1083-1084).

The codefendants' testimony, while conflicting, revealed that Bryson planned the robbery, that the codefendants, excluding Appellant, had robbed Fang

previously, and that each one of the codefendants received either ten or fifteen years in prison in exchange for their testimony in this case. (V. 22, T. 1084, 1088, 1097-1098). Appellant's statement to police was involuntary due to threats of the death penalty, hours of repeated questioning, and detectives screaming at his wife in a room nearby. (V. 22, T. 1093-1094).

Prior to calling the first witness, the Court read a stipulation to the jury as to the identity of the victims, Tamiqua Taylor and Dustin Freeman. (V. 22, T. 1104). The court further advised the jury of each codefendants' alias, which would be used throughout the trial. (V. 22, T. 1104). *See Preliminary Statement Above*.

Kimberly Hancock ("Ms. Hancock"), was a crime scene investigator with the Polk County Sheriff's Office. (V. 22, T. 1104-1105). She responded to the scene of the murders on October 4, 2009. (V. 22, T. 1106-1107). Ms. Hancock was assigned as the lead crime scene technician. (V. 22, T. 1109). She prepared diagrams of the scene and took photographs, which were entered into evidence. (V. 22, T. 1118-1119). Technicians collected approximately thirty cigarette butts from Fang's home. (V. 22, T. 1125-1125). Ms. Hancock noticed the left front tire of a Hummer parked outside the residence had been slashed. (V. 22, T. 1131). The speaker box of the Hummer had been taken out and left on the driveway. (V. 22, T. 1132). The spare tire was removed. (V. 22, T. 1135). Ms. Hancock processed the bullet casings for DNA, processed knives for DNA and fingerprints, and processed additional evidence which was later sent to the FDLE evaluation. (V. 23, T. 1266-1269).

Ms. Hancock also documented the scene and reviewed photographs from inside Fang's residence. She also documented that the front door sustained damage near the deadbolt, which was in a locked position. (V. 22, T. 1137-1139). The first victim, Tamiqua Taylor, was found in the foyer area of the home on a loveseat. (V. 22, T. 1141). A bullet projectile was found under her (a .38 class projectile showing two weapons were used). (V. 23, T. 1249). The spare tire from the Hummer and a knife were found nearby. (V. 22, T. 1141). Near the master bedroom closet, Ms. Hancock collected seven spent Winchester .45 caliber casings, projectiles, a cooking pot, and a dumbbell with apparent blood on it. (V. 22, T. 1163-1164). The second victim, Dustin Freeman, was found face down in the master bedroom with his hands and ankles bound. (V. 22, T. 1197). There appeared to be bloody footprints throughout the house. (V. 23, T. 1288). In total, Ms. Hancock collected ninety-four fingerprints during her investigation. (V. 23, T. 1293-1294).

On October 5, 2009, Ms. Hancock attended the autopsies of Freeman and Taylor. (V. 23, T. 1241). The photographs of Mr. Freeman showed what appeared to be ligature marks on his hands, ligature marks on his ankles, and an apparent gunshot wound to the left side of his head. (V. 23, T. 1242). The pictures of Ms.

Taylor demonstrated an apparent gunshot wound to her head and a picture of a wig she was wearing. (V. 23, T. 1243-1244). Ms. Hancock collected bullet fragments and fingernail scrapings from both victims during the autopsies, which were later sent off to the "lab." (V. 23, T. 1251-1254, 1289). She also collected the bindings from Mr. Freeman. (V. 22, T. 1197-1198).

Deputy James Froelich ("Deputy Froelich") with the Osceola County Sheriff's Office was conducting road patrol on October 4, 2009. (V. 23, T. 1300-1301). During the early morning hours, he responded to Fang's residence, located at 419 Dunlin Lane in Poinciana, Florida, to assist Polk County Sheriff's deputies. (V. 23, T. 1301). A total of four Osceola county deputies arrived on scene before the Polk County deputies arrived. (V. 23, T. 1302). Upon arrival he and the other deputies surrounded the house until the Polk County deputies arrived. (V. 23, T. 1303).

Deputy Froelich entered the residence along with two (2) other deputies through the front door. (V. 23, T. 1305). Once inside, he observed a black female with a wound to her head, later identified at Tamiqua Taylor, and a young child on couch. (V. 23, T. 1305). Both were covered in blood and Deputy Froelich assumed they were both dead. (V. 23, T. 1305). He noticed bloody foot prints on the kitchen tiles and saw a black male, later identified as Fang, sitting on a stool. (V. 23, T. 1305). Fang had swelling to his face, cuts, burns, and blood coming

from what appeared to be a gunshot wound to his abdomen and thigh. (V. 23, T. 1305). After leaving Fang with a Polk county deputy, Deputy Froelich entered the master bedroom where he observed a white male, Mr. Freeman, with his hand and ankles bound with a gunshot wound to his head. (V. 23, T. 1306). He and other deputies cleared the remainder of the home, then heard the small child snore, and placed her with the paramedics. (V. 23, T. 1307). The other deputies and EMTs who responded early that morning essentially observed the same things as Deputy Froelich.

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