TGEGKXGF."514814236"36<65<65."Lqj p'C0Vqo cukpq."Engtm"Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-2103

ROBERT P. MCCLOUD,

Appellant,

v. Lower Tribunal No. 2009-CF-007439-XX

Death Penalty Case

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA ELIZABETH MACKS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 19122
Office of the Attorney General
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
capapp@myfloridalegal.com [and]
sara.macks@myfloridalegal.com

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

Furthermore, McCloud was able to utilize multiple opportunities to highlight coercive police tactics to the jury. McCloud discussed the interrogation techniques during cross-examination of Sergeant Giampalvolo, Detective Evans and Detective Bias. (V29/2350, 2396, 2494). McCloud also highlighted the interrogation during his own testimony. (V33/3201). The confession was also thoroughly discussed during McCloud's

closing argument. (V35/3424). McCloud was able to repeatedly drill his theory of a coerced confession before the jury, and he was able to elicit testimony with regard to all of the relevant facts regarding the circumstances of his confession.

In addition, any alleged error in the admission of this testimony was harmless. See State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Three of McCloud's codefendants and a victim testified at trial. The surveillance tape from the gas station showed McCloud was in Poinciana. The receipt inside the Hummer had the codefendant's fingerprint. Thorough evidence showed that the five codefendants planned and committed the robbery and murders in Poinciana, even without McCloud's confession. Accordingly, any alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt based on the overwhelming evidence against McCloud.

## Issue II

## Jurors' Request for Transcripts of Confession Claim

After the jurors began deliberation, they requested three items from the trial judge: 1) a written transcript of McCloud's confession, 2) a written transcript of Andre Brown's confession and 3) a video of McCloud's confession. (V35/3493). McCloud was interviewed by law enforcement on October 21, 2009. (V29/2440). This McCloud's only interview with was law enforcement. McCloud's confession was videotaped. (V29/2455). Witnesses at trial discussed McCloud's confession, and the video was played for the jury and provided to it in response to the question. (V29/2378, 2436, 2455). Andre's only confession to law enforcement was never submitted as evidence to the jury. Andre and law enforcement testified that Andre confessed, but no details of the confession were discussed at trial. (V24/1524; V25/1685; V30/2654).

In response to the jury's request, the trial judge did not provide transcripts of McCloud's or Andre's confessions because they had never been entered into evidence. The trial judge did provide the video of McCloud's confession. All parties were in agreement that this was proper procedure to follow, and McCloud cannot show that the trial judge committed fundamental error.

Normally, the standard of review for a trial judge's response to questions from the jury is abuse of discretion. Haliburton v. State, 561 So. 2d 248, 250 (Fla. 1990). To reverse the trial judge's decision, an appellate court must conclude that no reasonable judge would respond as the trial judge did. See Perriman v. State, 731 So. 2d 1243, 1247-48 (Fla. 1999). But, without an objection, as in McCloud's case, error must be fundamental for reversal on appeal. McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999). "Fundamental error is defined as the type of error which 'reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" Id. at 505 (citing Urbin v. State, 714 So. 2d 411, 418 n.8 (Fla. 1998)). This is because the parties have a responsibility to object when they believe the trial court is committing an error.

Trial courts may allow juries to take all evidence, other than depositions, into the jury room. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.400(a)(4). Yet the item requested by the jury must have actually been entered into evidence in order for them to obtain it. See Russ v. State, 95 So. 2d 594, 600 (Fla. 1957) ("The jury should confine their consideration to the facts in evidence as weighed and interpreted in the light of common knowledge."). Any existing transcripts of McCloud's and Andre's confessions were

never used or discussed below, let alone entered into evidence, so the jury could not have received them in the jury room.

Even if they had been entered into evidence, the trial judge could not have allowed the transcripts to have been provided to the jury because judges have virtually no discretion in permitting a jury to receive physical transcripts. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.400. This is so because the jury might emphasize the testimony contained in the physical transcript over oral testimony provided at the trial. Barnes v. State, 970 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 2007). Thus, in McCloud's case, the jury's request for transcripts of McCloud's and Andre's confessions was not proper because such items should not be provided to the jury because they may place undue influence on that testimony. The trial court was absolutely correct in denying the request for those transcripts.

In contrast, trial courts generally have broad discretion in allowing the jury to hear a read back of the testimony provided at trial. See Fla. Std. Jury Inst. (Crim.) 4.4. "Indeed, 'courts have found no abuse of discretion even where the trial judge has, without much consideration, entirely rejected the jury's request for a read back.'" Hazuri v. State, 91 So. 3d 836, 840-41 (Fla. 2012). What a court is not allowed to do is mislead the jury into believing that read backs are not

permitted. <u>Id</u>. Here, the jury was not interested in any specific witness' testimony but receiving transcripts of out-of-court confessions. The judge did not deceive the jury by not offering to read back a specific witness' testimony because the jury did not request the transcript or testimony from any specific witness.

In this case, the trial court's response to the request for transcripts was not in error. The court informed the jury, as is the law, that they had all the admissible evidence with them and that transcripts were unavailable. Even if transcripts were available, the court would not have been allowed to give them to the jury for their consideration during deliberations because they had never been entered into evidence and they could not be taken into the jury room.

## Issue III

## Double Jeopardy Claim

McCloud's convictions for armed robbery and armed burglary of a dwelling with assault or battery do not constitute double jeopardy. McCloud claims that he could not be charged with home invasion robbery and armed burglary, see, e.g., Schulterbrandt v. State, 984 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008), however, he was not convicted of those offenses. The reasoning behind the district court's analysis in the cases upon which he relies is that burglary with assault or battery is subsumed within the offense of home invasion robbery and thus, is a lesser included offense of the crime. See Mendez v. State, 798 So. 2d 749 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). Since he was not convicted of home invasion robbery, his cases do not demonstrate any basis for relief.

Issues of double jeopardy, because they require purely legal determinations, are reviewed by appellate courts de novo. State v. Florida, 894 So. 2d 941, 945 (Fla. 2005). Under a double jeopardy analysis, when the same act is a violation of two statutes, a defendant can be convicted of both statutes if each statute requires proof of an element that the other statute does not. Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932). This is known as the Blockburger test in Florida courts.

<u>Florida</u>, 894 So. 2d at 946. The <u>Blockburger</u> test has been codified:

Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense[.]... For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.

§ 775.021(4)(a), Fla. Stat.

This codified <u>Blockburger</u> test has three exceptions: "1)
Offenses which require identical elements of proof[;] 2)
Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute[; and] 3) Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense." § 775.021(4)(b), Fla. Stat.

McCloud does not dispute that first two exceptions do not apply. He argues that the third exception applies. Yet, the burglary and robbery convictions are not lesser offenses with statutory elements subsumed by the greater offense. This exception is only for lesser included offenses listed in Category 1 of the Schedule of Lesser Included Offenses. Florida, 894 So. 2d at 945. The only Category 1 lesser included offense of burglary of a dwelling or burglary with assault or battery is burglary. The only Category 1 lesser included offenses of

robbery with a firearm are robbery and petit theft. McCloud fails to show how armed robbery and armed burglary convictions violate double jeopardy. And his case law on home invasion robbery is unpersuasive.

Furthermore, those home invasion robbery cases appear to be of questionable precedent as none of them address this Court's precedent in <a href="Florida">Florida</a> that the third exception under <a href="Blockburger">Blockburger</a>, offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense, only applies to lesser offenses listed in Category 1 of the Schedule of Lesser Included Offenses. <a href="Florida">Florida</a>, 894 So. 2d at 945. The Schedule of Lesser Included Offenses lists robbery and petit theft as Category 1 lesser included offenses of home invasion robbery, not burglary. Even if McCloud was actually charged with home invasion robbery, convictions for home invasion robbery and burglary would not violate double jeopardy as the statutory elements of burglary of a dwelling with a battery are not subsumed within the crime of home invasion robbery.

In addition, any double jeopardy violation would not affect McCloud's death sentence. The trial court found four aggravators: 1) contemporaneously convicted of another capital felony or violent felony, 2) committed while engaged in the commission of a homicide, robbery or burglary, 3) committed to

avoid arrest and 4) committed in a cold, calculated (V15/2522-27). premeditated manner. To support the contemporaneous violent felony aggravator, the court used dual capital convictions. (V15/2522-23). For McCloud's homicide/robbery/burglary aggravator, the court used the robbery and burglary conviction. (V15/2523). Even though the court used both of these crimes to support this aggravator, only one conviction is required, and a reversal on the burglary does not change the evidence supporting the robbery conviction. Thus, the robbery conviction, by itself, provides great weight to this aggravator. The other two aggravators, avoid arrest and CCP, are based on factual circumstances of the crimes and not the burglary conviction. A reversal on the burglary based on double jeopardy would not change a factual determination on these aggravators. The reversal of McCloud's burglary conviction, although the State does not concede was erroneous, would not affect the jury's death recommendation or the trial judge's sentence of death.

## Issue IV

## Jury Instruction on Attempt Claim

During the charge conference, the parties and the judge all agreed to the instructions provided to the jury. (V34/3289-97). This included providing the attempt instruction for count three, attempted first degree murder. (V34/3291-92). It was not fundamentally erroneous to provide the first degree murder instruction and then an attempt instruction to the jury. The jury was not provided with an incorrect statement of the law.

Trial judges have wide discretion when instructing the jury. James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997). When properly preserved, the standard of review on issues involving jury instructions is abuse of discretion. Coday v. State, 946 So. 2d 988, 994 (Fla. 2006). Yet, along with the discretion afforded the trial judge comes a responsibility for the State and the defendants: when a trial court provides both parties an jury instructions opportunity to review the prior presentation, the parties must object to possible errors. See Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981) ("It is well established law that where the trial judge has extended counsel an opportunity to cure an error, and counsel fails to take advance of the opportunity, such error, if any, was invited and will not warrant reversal."). See also Thomas v. State, 730 So. 2d 667, 668 (Fla. 1998) ("Where counsel communicates to the trial judge his acceptance of the procedure employed, the issue will be considered waived."). A contemporaneous objection allows the judge to fix the error immediately; when there is no contemporaneous objection, there must be fundamental error for reversal. Ray, 403 So. 2d at 960.

The parties agreed to use the general attempt to commit crime instruction, 5.1,  $^9$  instead of providing the jury with two attempt instructions,  $6.2^{10}$  and  $6.3.^{11}$  There was nothing erroneous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> To prove the crime of Attempt to Commit *(crime charged)*, the State must prove the following two elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

<sup>1. (</sup>Defendant) did some act toward committing the crime of (crime attempted) that went beyond just thinking or talking about it.

<sup>2. [</sup>He] [She] would have committed the crime except that

a. someone prevented [him] [her] from committing the crime
of (crime charged). [or]\*

b. [he] [she] failed. (\*supplied by Appellee)

To prove the crime of Attempted First Degree Premeditated Murder, the State must prove the following three elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

<sup>1. (</sup>Defendant) did some act intended to cause the death of (victim) that went beyond just thinking or talking about it.

<sup>2. (</sup>Defendant) acted with a premeditated design to kill (victim).

<sup>3.</sup> The act would have resulted in the death of (victim) except that someone prevented (defendant) from killing (victim) or [he] [she] failed to do so.

To prove the crime of Attempted Felony Murder, the State must prove the following three elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

<sup>1. (</sup>Defendant) [committed] [attempted to commit] a (crime

about this decision, let alone, fundamentally erroneous. By providing the first degree murder instruction and the attempt instruction, the jury was instructed on the law. Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747, 756 (Fla. 2001) (finding that a trial judge has an obligation, when instructing the jury, to make "correct statement[s] of the law and not mislead[] or confus[e]"). The trial judge correctly instructed the jury on attempted first degree murder. McCloud cannot, and does not, point to any error in the way the trial judge instructed the jury. The choice by the parties to provide a first degree murder instruction with an attempt instruction was a choice that cannot be reversed for fundamental error on appeal.

The jury was properly instructed on all the essential elements of the crime of attempted first degree murder. (V35/3463). The jury was provided with the instruction on first degree murder, both premeditated murder and felony murder, along with the attempted murder instruction. (V35/3460-63). Thus, the jury was provided instructions on all elements that McCloud complains about, acting with premeditated design and acting with

alleged).

<sup>2.</sup> While engaged in the [commission] [attempted commission] [escape from the immediate scene] of (crime alleged), the defendant [committed] [aided or abetted] an intentional act that is not an essential element of (crime alleged).

<sup>3.</sup> This intentional act could have but did not cause the death of (victim).

intent to cause death. McCloud cannot show that the instructions, as provided, amounted to fundamental error.

The general rule in criminal law is that where a trial court has extended counsel an opportunity to cure an error, and counsel fails to take advantage of such an opportunity, the error is considered acquiesced to and does not warrant reversal.

See Calloway v. State, 37 So. 3d 891, 897 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010) (citing Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981)). When defense counsel agrees to a standard jury instruction and then alleges fundamental error on appeal, reversal would have the unintended consequence of encouraging defense counsel to "stand mute and, if necessary, agree to an erroneous instruction" or sacrifice his client's opportunity for a second trial, in essence inviting error. Calloway, 37 So. 3d at 896-97. At trial, McCloud failed to make any objection to the standard attempt instruction. He cannot now object to the instruction on appeal merely because he prefers a different standard instruction.

## Issue V

## Motion to Suppress Claim

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